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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 

 

ADIRA ENERGY LTD. 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Adira Energy Ltd. ("the 

Company") and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements 

of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 

December 31, 2012. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 

Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not 

engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included 

consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 

includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 

for our opinion. 

 

 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 

and 2011 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in 

the period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

 

As described in Note 1b to the financial statements, as of December 31, 2012 the Company has an 

accumulated deficit of $29 million and a negative cash flow from operations of $4  million for the year ended 

December 31, 2012. The Company is an early exploration stage company and its existing funds and 

operating revenues are currently insufficient to finance its future operating expenses and exploration funding 

commitments. These matters and other matters discussed in Note 1b, raise substantial doubt about the 

Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any 

adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of 

liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

 

 

Tel-Aviv, Israel KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER 

April 30, 2013 A Member of Ernst & Young Global 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

U.S. dollars in thousands 

    December 31, 

  Note  2012  2011 

ASSETS       
       

CURRENT ASSETS:       
Cash and cash equivalents   4  $ 2,394  $ 8,094 
Restricted deposits   5  1,082  100 
Accounts receivable  6  360  96 
Other receivables and prepaid expenses  7  4,701  1,117 

       
Total current assets    8,537  9,407 

       
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:       

Restricted deposits   5  -  343 
Property and equipment, net   8  276  459 
Long - term receivables  9b (2)  640  - 
Exploration and evaluation assets  9  5,887  38 

       
Total non-current assets    6,803  840 

       
Total assets    $ 15,340  $ 10,247 

       
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY       

       
CURRENT LIABILITIES:       

Trade payables  10  $ 5,841  $ 482 
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities    11  1,476  939 

       
Total current liabilities    7,317  1,421 
       
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES       
Share warrants  14b  3,013  - 

       
Total  long-term liabilities    3,013  - 
       

EQUITY:       
Share capital   14  -  - 
Additional paid-in capital     33,966  27,775 
Accumulated deficit    (28,956)  (19,169) 

       
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent    5,010  8,606 
Non-controlling interests    -  220 

       
Total equity    5,010  8,826 

       
Total liabilities and equity    $ 15,340  $ 10,247 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Approved on Behalf of the Board:  

 

 

April 30, 2013  /s/ Dennis Bennie  /s/ Alan Friedman 

Date of approval of the 
financial statements  

Dennis Bennie 
Chairman of the board of directors 

 Alan Friedman  
Director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data 

 

 

 

   Year ended 

December 31, 

  Note  2012  2011  2010 

         

Revenues and other income  17  $ 1,889  $ 1,323  $ 1,707 

         

Expenses:           

Exploration expenses   9  1,026  5,018    1,624 

General and administrative expenses   18  5,304  5,031  3,067 

Impairment charge   9  7,810  1,226  - 

         

Total expenses    14,140  11,275  4,691 

         

Operating loss     (12,251)  (9,952)  (2,984) 

         

Financing income  19  2,480  43  - 

Financing expense   19  (745)  (109)  (5) 

         

Loss before income taxes    (10,516)  (10,018)  (2,989) 

Income taxes  13  (41)  (33)  (15) 

         

Net loss and comprehensive loss    $ (10,557)  $ (10,051)  $ (3,004) 

         

         

Net loss and comprehensive loss attributed 

to:  

 

 

 

     

Equity holders of the parent    $ (8,554)  $ (9,489)  $ (2,958) 

Non-controlling interests    (2,003)  (562)  (46) 

         

    $ (10,557)  $ (10,051)  $ (3,004) 

         

Basic and diluted net loss per share 

attributable to equity holders of the parent 

 

 

 

(0.06)  (0.10)  (0.05)  

         

Weighted average number of Ordinary 

shares used in computing basic and 

diluted net loss per share  

 

 

 

132,940,856  99,813,334  65,653,700 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data 

 
  

 
   Attributable to equity holders 

of the parent     

  
Number of  

 
Share  

 Additional 
paid in  Accumulated    

Non- 
controlling  Total 

  shares  capital  capital  deficit  Total  interests  equity 

               
Balance as of January 1, 2010  62,640,001  -  $ 8,932  $ (6,722)  $ 2,210  $ -  $ 2,210 
               
Shares and warrants issued in private placement, net (Note 14b(i))  27,500,000  -  *

)
10,077  -  10,077  -  10,077 

               
Investment in equity of subsidiary by non-controlling interests  -  -  -  -  -  677  677 
Share-based compensation  -  -  1,277  -  1,277  -  1,277 
Net loss   -  -  -  (2,958)  (2,958)  (46)  (3,004) 

               
Balance as of December 31, 2010  90,140,001  -  20,286  (9,680)  10,606  631  11,237 
               
Shares issued in private placement, net (Note 14b(ii))  10,483,871  -  *

)
6,152  -  6,152  -  6,152 

Exercise of warrants and options  1,144,581  -  314  -  314  -  314 
Investment in equity of subsidiary by non-controlling interests  -  -  -  -  -  151  151 
Share-based compensation  -  -  1,023  -  1,023  -  1,023 
Net loss   -  -  -  (9,489)  (9,489)  (562)  (10,051) 

               
Balance as of December 31, 2011  101,768,453  -  27,775  (19,169)  8,606  220  8,826 
               
Shares issued in private placement, net (Note 14b(iii))  79,012,640  -  *

)
5,215  -  5,215  -  5,215 

Investment in equity of subsidiary by non-controlling interests  -  -  -  -  -  550  550 
Share-based compensation  -  -  976  -  976  -  976 
Net loss   -  -  -  (8,554)  (8,554)  (2,003)  (10,557) 
Adjustment of non-controlling interests **)  -  -  -  (1,233)  (1,233)  1,233  - 

               
Balance as of December 31, 2012  180,781,093  -  $ 33,966  $ (28,956)  $ 5,010  $ -  $ 5,010 

 

*) Net of issuance expenses of $923, $472 and $791 in the years 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.  

**) Due to assumption of liabilities of a subsidiary.  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

U.S. dollars in thousands 

 

 
 Year ended 

December 31,  

  2012  2011  2010 

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net loss   $ (10,557)  $ (10,051)  $ (3,004) 
       
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating 

activities: 
 

     
Adjustments to the profit or loss items:        
Exchange rate differences for cash and cash equivalents   68  138  15 
Depreciation   96  80  12 
Impairment charge  7,810  1,226  - 
Issuance expenses  726  -  - 
Reevaluation of warrants  (2,299)  -  - 
Share-based compensation  976  1,023  1,277 

       
  7,377  2,467  1,304 
       
Changes in operating asset and liability items:       
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable, other receivables 

and prepaid expenses  
 

(6,696)  7,122  (8,456) 
Increase (decrease) in trade payables  5,359  (6,611)  7,014 
Increase in other accounts payable and accrued liabilities  537  659  132 
       
  (800)  1,170  (1,310) 
       
Net cash used in operating activities  (3,980)  (6,414)  (3,010) 
       
Cash flows from investing activities:       
Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets     (10,654)  (923)  (7) 
Purchase of property and equipment   (70)  (297)      (74) 
Increase in long term receivables  (640)  -  - 
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash  (639)  563  (1,006) 

       
Net cash used in investing activities  (12,003)  (657)  (1,087) 

       
Cash flows from financing activities:       
Proceeds from issuance of warrants, net of issuance expenses  4,586  -  - 
Proceeds from issue of shares, net of issuance expenses  5,215  6,152  10,077 
Investment in equity of subsidiary by non-controlling interests  550  151  677 
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and options to employees  -  314  - 
       
Net cash provided by financing activities  10,351  6,617  10,754 
       
Exchange rate differences for cash and cash equivalents   (68)  (138)  (15) 

       
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (5,700)  (592)  6,642 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  8,094  8,686  2,044 

       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  $ 2,394  $ 8,094  $ 8,686 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1:- GENERAL 

 

a. Nature of operations: 

 

Adira Energy Ltd. and its subsidiaries ("Adira" or "the Company"), is an oil and gas 

early-stage exploration company. Adira is a limited company, incorporated on April 8, 

2009, and domiciled in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The Company's shares are currently 

traded on the OTC market in the U.S. and the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada. The 

consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2012 

were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on April 29, 

2013.  

 

The Company has been granted three offshore petroleum licenses in Israel. The 

Company's wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary, Adira Energy Holdings Corp. owns three 

wholly owned active Israeli subsidiaries as follows as of December 31, 2012: (i) Adira 

Energy Israel Limited, which holds two offshore petroleum licenses being the "Gabriella 

License No. 378" ("Gabriella") of which it owns a 15% interest and the "Yitzhak License 

No. 380" ("Yitzhak") of which it owns 60% interest (see also Notes 9 and 19); (ii) Adira 

Oil Technologies Limited ("AOT") has been granted a 23.25% interest in one offshore 

petroleum license, the "Samuel License No. 388" ("Samuel"), (Gabriella, Yitzhak and 

Samuel - collectively the "Offshore Licenses") and (iii) Adira Energy Israel Services Ltd. 

provides services in respect of the entities described above. Adira Energy Holdings Corp. 

also owns 60% of the subsidiary, Adira Geo Global Limited ("AGG"), which owns a 30% 

interest in Samuel.  

 

Adira Energy Israel Limited is the operator of Gabriella, a co-operator of Yitzhak and 

AGG is the operator of Samuel. As the operator, the Company has established 

Unincorporated Joint Ventures ("UJV's") to manage the exploration activities of each of 

the offshore licenses.  The Company receives consulting and operator fees in accordance 

with the terms of Joint Operating Agreements signed between the Company and each of 

its consortium partners in the UJV's. 

 

b. Financial position: 

 

As reflected in the consolidated financial statements, as of December 31, 2012, the 

Company has an accumulated deficit of $28,956 and, in 2012, the Company had negative 

cash flows from operations of $3,980. The Company is an early exploration stage 

company and its existing funds and operating revenues are currently insufficient to 

finance its future operating expenses and exploration funding commitments. 

 

The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern depends upon the discovery of 

economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain financing to 

complete development, and upon future profitable operations from the properties or 

proceeds from their disposition.  
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NOTE 1:- GENERAL (Cont.) 

 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to raise funds from 

the aforementioned sources in which case the Company may be unable to meet its 

obligations. These matters raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue 

as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments 

relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and 

classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to 

continue as a going concern.  

 

 

NOTE 2:- BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 

a. Basis of preparation of the financial statements: 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

These Standards comprise: 

 

1. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

2. International Accounting Standards (IAS). 

3. Interpretations issued by the IFRIC and by the SIC. 

 

 

b. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, and 

are presented in U.S. dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($ 000), 

except when otherwise indicated. 

 

 

NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The following are the significant accounting policies applied by the Company in preparing its 

consolidated financial statements for all periods presented unless otherwise stated.  

 

a. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the financial 

statements: 

 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that have an effect on the application of the accounting 

policies and on the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These 

estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly. Changes in accounting 

estimates are reported in the period of the change in estimate.  
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

In the process of applying the significant accounting policies, the Company has made the 

following judgments which have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 

financial statements:  

 

- Determining the fair value of share-based payment transactions: 
 

The fair value of share-based payment transactions is determined using an 

acceptable option-pricing model. The assumptions made by management and used 

in the model include expected volatility, expected life and expected dividend. 

Changes in assumptions could affect the estimates of fair values. 

 

The key assumptions made in the financial statements concerning uncertainties at 

the end of the reporting period and the critical estimates computed by the Company 

that may result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

- Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation Assets: 

 

The Company reviews its Exploration and Evaluation Assets for impairment at 

least once a year and when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 

amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. 

This requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions with 

respect to the probability that the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation 

asset will be recovered in full from successful development or by sale. See Note 9 

for further details.  

 

 

b. Consolidated financial statements: 

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of companies that 

are controlled by the Company (subsidiaries). Control exists when the Company has the 

power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity. 

The effect of potential voting rights that are exercisable at the end of the reporting period 

is considered when assessing whether an entity has control. The consolidation of the 

financial statements commences on the date on which control is obtained and ends when 

such control ceases. 

 

All intercompany balances and transactions and gains or losses resulting from 

intercompany transactions are eliminated in full in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

The financial statements of the Company and of the subsidiaries are prepared as of the 

same dates and periods. The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform 

accounting policies by all companies in the Company. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

Non-controlling interests of subsidiaries represent the non-controlling shareholders' share 

of the total comprehensive income (loss) of the subsidiaries and fair value of the net 

assets upon the acquisition of the subsidiaries. The non-controlling interests are presented 

in equity separately from the equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company.  

 

The acquisition of non-controlling interests by the Company is recorded as  a decrease/ an 

increase in equity (capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling interests) and 

calculated as the difference between the consideration paid by the Company and the 

proportionate amount of non-controlling interests acquired and derecognized at the date 

of acquisition (when non-controlling interests also include a share of other comprehensive 

income, the Company reattributes the cumulative amounts recognized in other 

comprehensive income between the equity holders of the Company and the non-

controlling interests).  

 

Upon the disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, an increase / a 

decrease in equity (capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling interests) is 

recognized for the amount of the difference between the consideration received by the 

Company and the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary which 

has been added to the Company's equity, taking into account also the disposal of a portion 

of any goodwill in the subsidiary and any translation differences from foreign operations 

which have been recognized in other comprehensive income, based on the relative 

decrease in the interests in the subsidiary.  

 

Transaction costs in respect of transactions with non-controlling interests are also 

recorded in equity. Cash flows from transactions with non-controlling interests (without 

change in status) are classified in the statement of cash flows as cash flows from 

financing activities. 

 

 

Upon the disposal of a subsidiary resulting in loss of control, the Company: 

 

- derecognizes the subsidiary's assets (including goodwill) and liabilities. 

- derecognizes the carrying amount of non-controlling interests. 

- recognizes the fair value of the consideration received. 

- recognizes any remaining equity interest at fair value.  

- recognizes any resulting difference (surplus or deficit) as gain or loss. 

- reclassifies the components recognized in other comprehensive income on the same 

basis as would be required if the subsidiary had directly disposed of the related 

assets or liabilities. Accordingly, cumulative exchange differences are reclassified 

to profit or loss upon loss of control. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

c. Unincorporated joint oil and gas ventures: 

 

The Company conducts petroleum and natural gas exploration activities jointly with other 

partners who each have direct ownership in the assets and each are directly obligated for 

the liabilities of the ventures. Consequently, these financial statements reflect only the 

Company's proportionate interest in such activities.  

 

The Company accounts for its share of the joint venture's assets, liabilities it has incurred, 

income from the sale or use of its share of the joint venture's output, together with its 

share of the expenses incurred by the joint venture and any expenses it incurs in relation 

to its interest in the joint venture.  

 

 

d. Farm-out arrangements in the exploration and evaluation phase: 

 

A farm-out is the transfer of part of an oil and gas interest in consideration for an 

agreement by the transferee ("farmee") to meet, absolutely, certain expenditures which 

would otherwise have to be undertaken by the owner ("farmor"). Farm-out transactions 

generally occur in the exploration or development phase and are characterized by the 

transferor (i.e. farmor) giving up future economic benefits, in the form of reserves, in 

exchange for a reduction in future funding obligations. 

 

Accordingly, the farmee recognizes its expenditure under the arrangement in respect of its 

interest and that retained by the farmor, as and when the costs are incurred. 

 

The Company (farmor) accounts for the farm-out arrangement as follows: 

 

- The farmor does not record any expenditure made by the farmee on its behalf; 

 

- The farmor does not recognize a gain or loss on the farm-out arrangement, but 

rather redesignates any costs previously capitalized in relation to the whole interest 

as relating to the partial interest retained; and 

 

- any cash consideration received is credited against costs previously capitalized in 

relation to the whole interest with any excess accounted for by the farmor as a gain 

on disposal. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

e. Functional currency and foreign currency: 

 

1. Functional currency and presentation currency: 

 

The functional currency, which is the currency that best reflects the economic 

environment in which the Company operates and conducts its transactions, is 

separately determined for the Company and each of its subsidiaries, and is used to 

measure the financial position and operating results. The functional currency of the 

Company and its subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. 

 

The presentation currency of the financial statements is the U.S. dollar. 

 

2. Transactions, assets and liabilities in foreign currency: 

 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency (other than the functional currency) 

are recorded on initial recognition at the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction. After initial recognition, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currency are translated at the end of each reporting period into the 

functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Exchange differences, are 

recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost 

are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  

 

 

f. Cash equivalents:  

 

Cash equivalents are considered as highly liquid investments, including unrestricted 

short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less from the date 

of acquisition or with a maturity of more than three months, but which are redeemable on 

demand without penalty and which form part of the Company's cash management.  

 

 

g. Allowance for doubtful accounts: 

 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined in respect of specific debts whose 

collection, in the opinion of the Company's management, is doubtful. No allowance for 

doubtful account exists as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

h. Financial instruments: 

 

1. Financial assets: 

 

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are initially recognized at fair value 

plus directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

The Company has receivables that are financial assets (non-derivative) with fixed 

or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Short-term 

receivables (such as trade and other receivables) are measured based on their terms, 

normally at face value. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 

loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 

systematic amortization process. As for recognition of interest income, see q. 

below. 

 

2. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost: 

 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less 

directly attributable transaction costs (such as loan raising costs). After initial 

recognition, loans, including debentures, are measured based on their terms at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method taking into account directly 

attributable transaction costs. Short-term credit (such as trade and other payables) 

are measured based on their terms, normally at face value. Gains and losses are 

recognized in profit or loss when the financial liability is derecognized as well as 

through the systematic amortization process.  

 

3. Derecognition of financial instruments: 

 

a) Financial assets: 

 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

financial asset expire or the Company has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash 

flows from the financial asset or assumes an obligation to pay the cash flows in full 

without material delay to a third party and has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

If the Company transfers its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and neither 

transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transfers 

control of the asset, a new asset is recognized to the extent of the Company's continuing 

involvement in the asset. When continuing involvement takes the form of guaranteeing 

the transferred asset, the extent of the continuing involvement is the lower of the original 

carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration received that the 

Company could be required to repay. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

b) Financial liabilities: 

 

A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, that is when the 

obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires. A financial liability is 

extinguished when the debtor: 

 

 discharges the liability by paying in cash, other financial assets, goods 

or services; or 

 is legally released from the liability. 

 

4. Impairment of financial assets: 

 

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any 

objective evidence of impairment of a financial asset or group of financial assets 

carried at amortized cost as follows. 

 

There is objective evidence of impairment of debt instruments and receivables as a 

result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the 

asset and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows. 

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor is experiencing 

financial difficulties, including liquidity difficulty and default in interest or 

principal payments. The amount of the loss recorded in profit or loss is measured 

as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been 

incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (the 

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). If the financial asset has a 

variable interest rate, the discount rate is the current effective interest rate. The 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account 

(see allowance for doubtful accounts above). In a subsequent period, the amount of 

the impairment loss is reversed if the recovery of the asset can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized. The amount 

of the reversal, up to the amount of any previous impairment, is recorded in profit 

or loss. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

5. Classification of rights issues: 

 

Rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of the Company's equity 

instruments for a fixed amount of any currency are classified as equity instruments 

if the Company offers the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its existing 

owners of the same class of its non-derivative equity instruments. 

 

 

6. Issue of a unit of securities: 

 

The issue of a unit of securities involves the allocation of the proceeds received 

(before issue expenses) to the components of the securities issued in the unit based 

on the following order: financial derivatives and other financial instruments 

measured at fair value in each period. Then fair value is determined for financial 

liabilities and compound instruments (such as convertible debentures) that are 

presented at amortized cost. The proceeds allocated to equity instruments are the 

residual amount calculated as the difference between the total proceeds and the 

proceeds allocated as above. Issue costs are allocated to each component pro rata to 

the amounts determined for each component in the unit.  

 

 

i. Property and equipment: 

 

Property and equipment are measured at cost, including directly attributable costs, less 

accumulated depreciation. Cost includes spare parts and auxiliary equipment that can be 

used only in connection with the machinery and equipment. 

 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the assets at 

annual rates as follows: 

 

  % 

   
Drilling rig and related equipment  10 

Office furniture and equipment  10 

Computers and peripheral equipment  33 
 

The useful life, depreciation method and residual value of an asset are reviewed at least 

each year-end and any changes are accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting 

estimate.  

 
Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held 

for sale and the date that the asset is derecognized. An asset is derecognized on disposal 

or when no further economic benefits are expected from its use. The gain or loss arising 

from the derecognition of the asset (determined as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount in the financial statements) is included in profit or loss 

when the asset is derecognized. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

j. Impairment of non-financial assets: 

 

The Company evaluates the need to record an impairment of the carrying amount of non-

financial assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount is not recoverable. If the carrying amount of non-financial assets exceeds their 

recoverable amount, the assets are reduced to their recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of fair value less costs of sale and value in use. In measuring value 

in use, the expected future cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects the risks specific to the asset. The recoverable amount of an asset that does not 

generate independent cash flows is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 

asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

 

k. Exploration and evaluation assets: 

 

Pre-license costs: 

 
Pre-license costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

 

Exploration and evaluation costs: 

 
Oil and natural gas exploration and development expenditure is accounted for using the 

successful efforts method of accounting. 

 

During the geological and geophysical exploration phase, costs are charged against 

income as incurred. Costs directly associated with an exploration well in its drilling 

phase, for which it has not yet been determined whether there are proved reserves or it is 

not commercially viable, are capitalized as exploration and evaluation intangible assets 

until the drilling of the well is complete and the results have been evaluated. These costs 

include employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to 

contractors. If no reserves are found, the exploration asset is tested for impairment. If 

extractable hydrocarbons are found and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g., by 

drilling further wells), are likely to be developed commercially, the costs continue to be 

carried as an intangible assets while sufficient and continued progress is made in 

assessing the commerciality of the hydrocarbons. All such costs are subject to technical, 

commercial and management review as well as review for impairment at least once a year 

to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract value from the discovery. 

When this is no longer the case, the costs are written off. When proved reserves of oil are 

determined and development sanctioned, the relevant expenditure is transferred to oil and 

gas properties after impairment is assessed and any resulting impairment loss is 

recognized.  
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

l. Taxes on income: 

 

Taxes on income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss comprise current 

and deferred taxes. Current or deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except to the 

extent that the tax arises from items which are recognized directly in other comprehensive 

income or in equity. In such cases, the tax effect is also recognized in the relevant item. 

 

1. Current taxes: 

 

The current tax liability is measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period as well as 

adjustments required in connection with the tax liability in respect of previous 

years.  

 

 

2. Deferred taxes: 

 

Deferred taxes are computed in respect of temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts in the financial statements and the amounts attributed for tax 

purposes. Deferred taxes are recognized directly in other comprehensive income or 

in equity if the tax relates to those items.  

 

Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the taxes are reversed in profit or loss, comprehensive income or equity, 

based on tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period.  

 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is not probable that they will be utilized. Also, temporary 

differences (such as carry-forward losses) for which deferred tax assets have not 

been recognized are reassessed and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent 

that their recoverability has become probable. Any resulting reduction or reversal is 

recognized in the line item, "taxes on income".  

 

m. Share-based payment transactions: 

 

The Company's employees and other service providers are entitled to remuneration in the 

form of equity-settled share-based payment transactions. 

 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured at the fair value of the 

equity instruments granted at grant date. Fair value measurement of all options and 

warrants granted is determined using an appropriate pricing model. As for other service 

providers, the cost of the transactions is measured at the fair value of the goods or 

services received as consideration for equity instruments. In cases where the fair value of 

the goods or services received as consideration of equity instruments cannot be measured, 

they are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.  
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in profit or loss, together with a 

corresponding increase in equity, during the period which the performance and service 

conditions are to be satisfied, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become  

 

fully entitled to the award ("the vesting period"). The cumulative expense recognized for 

equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date 

reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company's best 

estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or 

income recognized in profit or loss represents the movement in the cumulative expense 

recognized at the end of the reporting period. No expense is recognized for awards that do 

not ultimately vest.  

 

If the Company modifies the conditions on which equity-instruments were granted, an 

additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of 

the share-based payment arrangement or is otherwise beneficial to the employee/other 

service provider at the modification date.  

 

If a grant of an equity instrument is cancelled, it is accounted for as if it had vested on the 

cancellation date, and any expense not yet recognized for the grant is recognized 

immediately. However, if a new grant replaces the cancelled grant and is identified as a 

replacement grant on the grant date, the cancelled and new grants are accounted for as a 

modification of the original grant, as described above.  

 

 

n. Employee benefit liabilities: 

 

The Company has several employee benefit plans: 

 

1. Short-term employee benefits: 

 

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, 

recreation and social security contributions and are recognized as expenses as the 

services are rendered. A liability in respect of a cash bonus is recognized when the 

Company has a legal or constructive obligation to make such payment as a result of 

past service rendered by an employee and a reliable estimate of the amount can be 

made.  

 

2. Post-employment benefits: 

 

The Company's plan in Israel is financed by contributions to insurance companies 

and is classified as a defined contribution plan, pursuant to Section 14 of the 

Severance Pay Law. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

The Company pays fixed contributions and has no legal or constructive obligation 

to pay further contributions if the insurance company does not hold sufficient 

amounts to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current 

and prior periods; therefore, upon release of the policy to the employee, no 

additional liability exists between the parties regarding the matter of severance pay 

and no additional payments shall be made by the Company to the employee. 

Accordingly, severance liability and deposits on behalf of such liability are not 

presented on the balance sheet, as the Company has no further obligation to these 

employees once the deposits have been paid. 

 

 

o. Revenue recognition: 

 

Revenues are recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss when the revenues can 

be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 

transaction will flow to the Company and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of 

the transaction can be measured reliably.  

 

The Company's revenues are derived from: 

 

Operator fees - the Company acts as the operator on the Offshore Licenses and is entitled 

to operator fees at a fixed rate of 7.5% of the total exploration costs incurred by the 

respective UJV's or at a rate ranging from 1.2%-4.8% of the total exploration costs 

incurred by the respective UJV's depending on the annual expenditures in the UJV. 

Revenues from operator fees are recognized in accordance with the terms of the Joint 

Operating Agreements, as exploration costs are incurred in the UJV's. 

Consulting fees - The Company provides consulting services in respect of the Offshore 

Licenses on a "time and materials" basis. Consulting fees are recognized as revenues as 

the services are rendered to the respective UJV's.   

 

p. Finance income and expenses:  

 

Finance income comprises interest income on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 

and exchange rate gains and losses.  

 

Gains and losses on exchange rate differences are reported on a net basis.  
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

q. Loss per share: 

 

Loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to equity holders of the 

Company by the weighted number of Ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Basic loss per share only includes shares that were actually outstanding during the period. 

Potential Ordinary shares (warrants and employee options) are only included in the 

computation of diluted loss per share when their conversion decreases earnings per share 

or increases loss per share from continuing operations. Further, potential Ordinary shares 

that are converted during the period are included in diluted earnings per share only until 

the conversion date and from that date in basic earnings per share. 

 

All share options and warrants outstanding for all periods presented have not been 

included in the calculation of diluted loss per share, as they are antidilutive. 

 

 

r. Decommissioning liability: 

 

Decommissioning liability is recognized when the Company has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of 

obligation can be made. A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is also 

recognized as part of the cost of the related property and equipment. The amount 

recognized is the estimated cost of decommissioning, discounted to its present value. 

Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning or decommissioning cost estimates 

are dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision, and a 

corresponding adjustment to property and equipment. The unwinding of the discount on 

the decommissioning provision is included as a finance cost. 

 

s. Presentation of statement of comprehensive loss: 

 

The Company has elected to present a single statement of comprehensive loss which 

includes both the items of the statement of operation and the items of other 

comprehensive loss. 

 

 

t. Reclassification:  

 

Certain amounts have been reclassified in comparative data in order to conform to current 

year's presentation.  
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

u. Disclosure of new IFRSs in the period prior to their adoption: 

 

IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: 

Disclosure: 

 

The IASB issued certain amendments to IAS 32 ("the amendments to IAS 32") regarding 

the offsetting of financial assets and liabilities. The amendments to IAS 32 clarify, among 

others, the meaning of "currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off" ("the right of 

set-off"). Among others, the amendments to IAS 32 prescribe that the right of set-off 

must be legally enforceable not only during the ordinary course of business of the parties 

to the contract but also in the event of bankruptcy or insolvency of one of the parties. The 

amendments to IAS 32 also state that in order for the right of set-off to be currently 

available, it must not be contingent on a future event, there may not be periods during 

which the right is not available, or there may not be any events that will cause the right to 

expire. 

 

The IASB also issued amendments to IFRS 7 ("the amendments to IFRS 7") regarding 

the offsetting of financial assets and liabilities. According to the amendments to IFRS 7, 

the Company is required, among others, to provide disclosure of rights of set-off and 

related arrangements (such as collateral agreements), the composition of amounts that are 

set off, and amounts subject to enforceable master netting arrangements  that do not meet 

the offsetting criteria of IAS 32. 

The amendments to IAS 32 are to be applied retrospectively commencing from the financial 

statements for periods beginning on January 1, 2014, or thereafter. Earlier application is 

permitted, but disclosure of early adoption is required as well as the disclosures required by the 

amendments to IFRS 7 as described above. The amendments to IFRS 7 are to be applied 

retrospectively commencing from the financial statements for periods beginning on January 1, 

2013, or thereafter. 

 

The Company estimates that the amendments to IAS 32 are not expected to have a material 

impact on its financial statements. The required disclosures pursuant to the amendments to IFRS 

7 will be included in the Company's financial statements. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: 

 

1. In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments", the first part of 

Phase 1 of a project to replace IAS 39, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement". IFRS 9 focuses mainly on the classification and measurement of financial 

assets and it applies to all financial assets within the scope of IAS 39. 

 

According to IFRS 9, all financial assets (including hybrid contracts with financial asset 

hosts) should be measured at fair value upon initial recognition. In subsequent periods, 

debt instruments should be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions 

are met: 

 

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order 

to collect the contractual cash flows. 

 

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. 

 
Notwithstanding the aforesaid, upon initial recognition, the Company may designate a 

debt instrument that meets both of the abovementioned conditions as measured at fair 

value through profit or loss if this designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency ("accounting mismatch") that would have 

otherwise arisen. 

 

Subsequent measurement of all other debt instruments and financial assets should be at 

fair value. 

 

Financial assets that are equity instruments should be measured in subsequent periods at 

fair value and the changes recognized in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income, 

in accordance with the election by the Company on an instrument-by-instrument basis 

(amounts recognized in other comprehensive income cannot be subsequently transferred 

to profit or loss). Nevertheless, if equity instruments are held for trading, they should be 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. This election is final and irrevocable. When 

an entity changes its business model for managing financial assets it shall reclassify all 

affected financial assets. In all other circumstances, reclassification of financial 

instruments is not permitted. 

 

The Standard is effective commencing from January 1, 2013. Earlier application is 

permitted. Upon initial application, the Standard should be applied retrospectively, except 

as specified in the Standard. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

2. In October 2010, the IASB issued certain amendments to IFRS 9 regarding de-

recognition and financial liabilities. According to those amendments, the provisions of 

IAS 39 will continue to apply to de-recognition and to financial liabilities for which the 

fair value option has not been elected (designated as measured at fair value through profit 

or loss); that is, the classification and measurement provisions of IAS 39 will continue to 

apply to financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities measured at 

amortized cost. 

 

The changes arising from these amendments affect the measurement of a liability for 

which the fair value option has been chosen. Pursuant to the amendments, the amount of 

the adjustment to the liability's fair value that is attributable to changes in credit risk 

should be presented in other comprehensive income. All other fair value adjustments 

should be presented in profit or loss. If presenting the fair value adjustment of the liability 

arising from changes in credit risk in other comprehensive income creates an accounting 

mismatch in profit or loss, then that adjustment should also be presented in profit or loss 

rather than in other comprehensive income. 

 

Furthermore, according to the amendments, derivative liabilities in respect of certain 

unquoted equity instruments can no longer be measured at cost but rather only at fair 

value. 

 

The amendments are effective commencing from January 1, 2013. Earlier application is 

permitted provided that the Company also adopts the provisions of IFRS 9 regarding the 

classification and measurement of financial assets (the first part of Phase 1). Upon initial 

application, the amendments should be applied retrospectively, except as specified in the 

amendments. 

 

The Company believes that the amendments are not expected to have a material effect on 

the financial statements. 

 

 IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IFRS 13 - Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint 

Arrangements, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, Fair Value Measurement: 

 

In May 2011, the IASB issued four new Standards: IFRS 10, "Consolidated Financial 

Statements", IFRS 11, "Joint Arrangements", IFRS 12, "Disclosure of Interests in Other 

Entities" ("the new Standards") and IFRS 13, "Fair Value Measurement", and amended 

two existing Standards, IAS 27R (Revised 2011), "Separate Financial Statements", and 

IAS 28R (Revised 2011), "Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures". 

 

The new Standards are to be applied retrospectively in financial statements for annual 

periods commencing on January 1, 2013 or thereafter. Earlier application is permitted. 

However, if the Company chooses earlier application, it must adopt all the new Standards 

as a package (excluding the disclosure requirements of IFRS 12 which may be adopted 

separately). The Standards prescribe transition provisions with certain modifications upon 

initial adoption. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

The main provisions of the Standards and their expected effects on the Company are as 

follows: 

 

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements: 

 

IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27 regarding the accounting treatment of consolidated financial 

statements and includes the accounting treatment for the consolidation of structured 

entities previously accounted for under SIC 12, "Consolidation - Special Purpose 

Entities". 

 

IFRS 10 does not prescribe changes to the consolidation procedures but rather modifies 

the definition of control for the purpose of consolidation and introduces a single 

consolidation model.  

 

IFRS 10 also prescribes that an investor may have control even if it holds less than a 

majority of the investee's voting rights (de facto control), as opposed to the provisions of 

the existing IAS 27 which permits a choice between two consolidation models - the de 

facto control model and the legal control model. 

 

IFRS 10 is to be applied retrospectively in financial statements for annual periods 

commencing on January 1, 2013, or thereafter. 

 

The Company believes that the adoption of IFRS 10 is not expected to have a material 

effect on the financial statements. 

 

IAS 27R - Separate Financial Statements: 

 

IAS 27R supersedes IAS 27 and only addresses separate financial statements. The 

existing guidance for separate financial statements has remained unchanged in IAS 27R. 

 

IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements: 

 

IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 regarding the accounting treatment of interests in joint 

ventures and SIC 13 regarding the interpretation of the accounting treatment of non-

monetary contributions by venturers. 

 

IFRS 11 defines joint arrangements as contractual arrangements over which two or more 

parties have joint control. 

  



ADIRA ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data 

 - 25 - 

 

NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

IFRS 11 distinguishes between two types of joint arrangements: 

 

- Joint ventures in which the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the arrangement. IFRS 11 requires joint ventures to be 

accounted for solely by using the equity method, as opposed to the provisions of 

IAS 31 which allowed the Company to make an accounting policy choice whether 

to apply proportionate consolidation or the equity method for entities under joint 

control. 

 

- Joint operations in which the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. 

IFRS 11 requires the joint operator to recognize a joint operation's assets, 

liabilities, revenues and expenses in proportion to its relative share of the joint 

operation as determined in the joint arrangement, similar to the current accounting 

treatment for proportionate consolidation. 

 

IFRS 11 is to be applied retrospectively in financial statements for annual periods 

commencing on January 1, 2013, or thereafter. 

 

The Company believes that the adoption of IFRS 11 is not expected to have a material 

effect on the financial statements. 

 

IAS 28R - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: 

 

IAS 28R supersedes IAS 28. The principal changes in IAS 28R compared to IAS 28 

relate to the application of the equity method of accounting for investments in joint 

ventures, as a result of the issuance of IFRS 11, and the guidance for transition from 

proportionate consolidation to the equity method of accounting for these investments. 

IAS 28R also prescribes that in the event of disposal of an investment in an associate or 

joint venture, including a portion thereof, the portion that meets the criteria to be 

classified as held for sale is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Any remaining 

portion is accounted for using the equity method until the time of actual disposal. In 

addition, an investment in an associate that becomes an investment in a joint venture, or 

vice versa, will continue to be accounted for at equity and the remaining investment will 

not be remeasured. 

 

IAS 28R is to be applied retrospectively in financial statements for annual periods 

commencing on January 1, 2013, or thereafter. Earlier application is permitted; however, 

if the Company elects earlier application of IAS 28R, it must also apply IFRS 10, 

IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IFRS 27R (Revised 2011) collectively. 

  

http://www.iasplus.com/standard/ifrs05.htm
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

The Company estimates that IAS 28R is not expected to have a material impact on its 

financial statements. 

 

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 

 

IFRS 12 prescribes disclosure requirements for the Company's investees, including 

subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. IFRS 12 expands the 

disclosure requirements to include the judgments and assumptions used by management 

in determining the existence of control, joint control or significant influence over 

investees, and in determining the type of joint arrangement. IFRS 12 also provides 

disclosure requirements for material investees. 

 

The required disclosures will be included in the Company's financial statements upon 

initial adoption of IFRS 12. 

 

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement: 

 

IFRS 13 establishes guidance for the measurement of fair value, to the extent that such 

measurement is required according to IFRS. IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that 

would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. IFRS 13 also specifies the 

characteristics of market participants and determines that fair value is based on the 

assumptions that would have been used by market participants. According to IFRS 13, 

fair value measurement is based on the assumption that the transaction will take place in 

the asset's or the liability's principal market, or in the absence of a principal market, in the 

most advantageous market. 

 

IFRS 13 requires an entity to maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and 

minimize the use of unobservable inputs. IFRS 13 also includes a fair value hierarchy 

based on the inputs used to determine fair value as follows: 

 

Level 1 -  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

 

Level 3 -  unobservable inputs (valuation techniques that do not make use of 

observable inputs). 

 

IFRS 13 also prescribes certain specific disclosure requirements. 

 

The new disclosures, and the measurement of assets and liabilities pursuant to IFRS 13, 

are to be applied prospectively for periods commencing after the Standard's effective 

date, in financial statements for annual periods commencing on January 1, 2013 or 

thereafter. Earlier application is permitted. The new disclosures will not be required for 

comparative data. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

The appropriate disclosures will be included in the Company's financial statements upon 

initial adoption of IFRS 13. 

 

As for the effect on the financial statements, the Company believes that IFRS 13 is not 

expected to have a material impact on its financial statements.  

 

IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: 

Disclosure: 

 

In December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 32 ("the amendments to IAS 

32") regarding the offsetting of financial assets and liabilities. The amendments to IAS 32 

clarify, among others, the meaning of "currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off" 

("the right of set-off"). Among others, the amendments to IAS 32 prescribe that the right 

of set-off must be legally enforceable not only during the ordinary course of business of 

the parties to the contract but also in the event of bankruptcy or insolvency of one of the 

parties. The amendments to IAS 32 also state that in order for the right of set-off to be 

currently available, it must not be contingent on a future event, there may not be periods 

during which the right is not available, or there may not be any events that will cause the 

right  to expire. 

 

Simultaneously in December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 ("the 

amendments to IFRS 7") regarding the offsetting of financial assets and liabilities. 

According to the amendments to IFRS 7, the Company is required, among others, to 

provide disclosure of rights of set-off and related arrangements (such as collateral 

agreements), the composition of amounts that are set off, and amounts subject to 

enforceable master netting arrangements  that do not meet the offsetting criteria of IAS 

32. 

 

The amendments to IAS 32 are to be applied retrospectively commencing from the 

financial statements for periods beginning on January 1, 2014, or thereafter. Earlier 

application is permitted, but disclosure of early adoption is required as well as the 

disclosures required by the amendments to IFRS 7 as described above. The amendments 

to IFRS 7 are to be applied retrospectively commencing from the financial statements for 

periods beginning on January 1, 2013, or thereafter. 

 

The Company estimates that the amendments to IAS 32 are not expected to have a 

material impact on its financial statements. The required disclosures pursuant to the 

amendments to IFRS 7 will be included in the Company's financial statements. 
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NOTE 4:- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

  December 31, 

  2012  2011 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

     

In US Dollars  $ 2,205  $ 6,633 

In Canadian Dollars  73  1,324 

In NIS  116  137 

     

  $ 2,394  $ 8,094 

 

 

NOTE 5:- RESTRICTED CASH 

 

Short-term restricted cash of $ 100 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 relates to deposits held 

by a financial institution as security in connection with a guarantee against the Company's credit 

facility and was released subsequent to balance sheet date. 

 

Long-term restricted cash of $ 65 as of December 31, 2011 and short-term restricted cash of $67 

as of December 31, 2012 relates to cash held by a financial institution as a guarantee for the 

Company's Israeli office and the land lease on the Eitan license. 

 

Long-term restricted cash of $ 278 as of December 31, 2011 and short-term restricted cash of 

$915 as of December 31, 2012 relates to deposits held by a financial institution as security in 

connection with the guarantee in favor of customs. 

 

 

NOTE 6:- ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 

Accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 days terms. The 

Company has no past due or impaired trade receivables as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  

 

 

NOTE 7:- OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES 

 

  December 31, 

  2012  2011 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

     

Receivable from UJVs  $ 3,563  $ 586 

Government authorities   889  220 

Prepaid expenses   175  195 

Other receivables  26  11 

Consumables  48  105 

     

  $ 4,701  $ 1,117 
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NOTE 8:- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

 

Composition and movement:  

 

2012 

 

  

Drilling rig 

and related 

equipment 

 Office 

furniture 

and 

equipment  

Computer 

and 

peripheral 

equipment  Total 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

Cost:         

         

Balance at January 1, 2012  $ 426  $ 83  $ 215  $ 724 

Purchases during the year  -  -  70  70 

         

Balance at December 31, 2012  426  83  285  794 

         

Accumulated depreciation:         

Balance at January 1, 2012  191  14  60  265 

Additions during the year:          

Depreciation for the year **)  -  16  80  96 

         

Provision for impairment *)  157  -  -   

         

Balance at December 31, 2012  348  30  140  518 

         

Depreciated cost at December 31, 2012  $ 78  $ 53  $ 145  $ 276 

 

*) Following the Eitan license relinquishment in 2011 (See Note 9a), an impairment loss of 

$157 was recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Loss for 2012. 

 

**) On January 2012, the Company activated a program for the sale of the drilling rig and 

related equipment and commenced marketing the equipment for sale. Accordingly, 

the equipment was accounted for as held for sale under IFRS 5 and therefore was not 

depreciated during 2012. 
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NOTE 8:- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Cont.) 

 

  

Drilling rig 

and related 

equipment 

 Office 

furniture 

and 

equipment  

Computer 

and 

peripheral 

equipment  Total 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

Cost:         

         

Balance at January 1, 2011  $ 389  $ 6  $ 32  $ 427 

         

Purchases during the year  37  77  183  297 

         

Balance at December 31, 2011  426  83  215  724 

         

Accumulated depreciation:         

         

Balance at January 1, 2011  9  -  3  12 

         

Additions during the year:          

Depreciation for the year *)  40  14  57  111 

         

Provision for impairment **)  142  -  -  142 

         

Balance at December 31, 2011  191  14  60  265 

         

Depreciated cost at December 31, 2011  $ 235  $ 69  $ 155  $ 459 

 

*) Including depreciation of drilling rig and drilling equipment of $31 that was capitalized to 

exploration and evaluation assets. 

**) Following the Eitan license relinquishment in 2011 (See Note 9a), an impairment loss of 

$142 was recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Loss for 2011. 

 

 

NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 

The following is a description of activities in respect of the Company's licenses:  

 

a. Eitan: 

 

The Eitan License comprises an area of approximately 31,060 acres in the Hula Valley in 

Northern Israel. The Eitan License was awarded in December 2008 for a term of three  

 

years which expired in December 2011. The Company had a 100% working interest in 

the license. 

 

The Company commenced drilling its first new well ("Eitan # 1") in January 2011. In 

accordance with the Company's accounting policy, the Company capitalized $935 to 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets during 2011.   
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NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

Following a review and further analysis by the Company's geoscientists, in consultation 

with outside consultants, management concluded in November 2011 that commercial 

quantities of hydrocarbons were not present in the Eitan 1 well. In December 2011, the 

Company notified the Ministry of Energy and Water Resources of the State of Israel ("the 

Ministry") that it is relinquishing the license and in December 2012. The Company 

received a final confirmation from the Ministry approving the surrender of the Eitan 

License. 

 

As a result of the above, the Company recorded in 2011 $1,226 non-cash impairment 

charge arising from the write-off of exploration and evaluation assets, as well as 

inventory and equipment related to onshore drilling in the statement of comprehensive 

loss. In 2012, the Company decided to sell the remaining inventory and equipment and 

recorded a $214 non-cash impairment charge arising from the write-off of exploration 

and evaluation assets as well as inventory and equipment related to onshore drilling in the 

statement of comprehensive loss. In 2012, the Company decided to sell the remaining 

inventory and equipment.  

 

The exploration expenses relating to the Eitan license that were not capitalized are as 

follows: 

 

  Year ended December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Exploration expenses  $ 116  $ 784  $ 568 

 

b. Off-shore licenses:  

 

(1) Gabriella: 

 

The Gabriella License was awarded to the Company in July 2009 and covers 

97,000 acres (392 sq. km.) and is located approximately 10 km offshore Israel 

between Netanya and Ashdod. The license was issued for an initial three year 

period and may be renewed upon fulfillment of certain conditions for a further four 

year period with a further renewal option of two years in case of a reserve 

discovery. As of December 31, 2012, the Company had received a renewal of the 

Gabriella license to September 2013, including extension of certain milestones.  

 

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has a 15% working interest in Gabriella. 

In addition, the Company is the operator of the Gabriella License and is entitled to 

an operating fee as described below.  

  



ADIRA ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data 

 - 32 - 

 

NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

In January 2010, Adira Energy Israel Ltd., signed an agreement with Modiin 

Energy Limited Partnership ("MELP") and Modiin Energy General Partners 

("MEGP") (collectively "Modiin") to facilitate the full initial funding of the 

Gabriella License. Under the terms of the agreement, Modiin farmed in 70% of the 

rights of participation in the Gabriella License (the "Gabriella Project"). 

Brownstone Ventures Inc ("Brownstone") has a 15% participating interest in the 

Gabriella License. Brownstone's working interest is registered in the Company's 

name. Transfer of the beneficial ownership is subject to the approval of the 

Ministry. Until such time, these participating interests are held in trust by the 

Company. Modiin has agreed to fund its 70% share, as well as the Company's 15% 

share of the work program up to a total of $8,000 (i.e. $1,200). Modiin completed 

this funding commitment in 2011.  

 

In addition, Modiin agreed to pay Adira: 1) a monthly management fee of $ 12.5 

for a period of two years commencing February 1, 2010, 2) one half of the 

management fees MEGP receives from MELP (3.75% of 7.5% management fees) 

in respect to this license, for a period of 24 months, commencing February 1, 2010, 

after which the amount increases to 4.25% (the "Modiin Management Fees"); and 

3) a royalty of 2.25% from both MELP and MEGP each from any resources 

extracted until Modiin recovers its costs incurred, after which the royalty increases 

to 5.25% (the "Modiin Royalty" and together with the Modiin Buy Back Option 

and Modiin Management Fees, the "Modiin Farmout Rights"). Due to the 

uncertainty of receipt of these fees and royalties in the event of the termination of 

the exploration program, these fees and royalties are recorded as income upon 

receipt. 

 

The Company has an option to purchase 15% of the Gabriella License from Modiin 

(or 21.43% of MELP's 70% interest) any time until the earlier of six months after a 

discovery or seven years from July 2009 ("Modiin Buy Back Option"). The 

exercise price for this option is the actual costs incurred by Modiin on the 15% 

interest up until the exercise date. 

 

All exploration and extraction activity on the Gabriella License, and the 

relationship of the participating interest holders, is governed by a joint operating 

agreement or "JOA" (the "Gabriella JOA").  The Gabriella JOA parties paid the 

Company an operating fee equal to 7.5% of the cumulative, direct costs incurred to 

operate the Gabriella License, through January 26, 2012. Commencing January 27, 

2012, the Gabriella License participants began paying a new operator fee of (i) a 

$25 per month, plus (ii) an additional sliding-scale percentage of exploration 

expenses incurred, ranging from 4.8% of annual exploration expenses (if less than 

$2,000) down to 1.2% of annual exploration expenses (if over $6,000).   

  



ADIRA ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data 

 - 33 - 

 

NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

On July 19, 2012, the Company announced that MELP executed a drilling contract 

with  Noble International Ltd ("Noble Drilling") to secure access to the Noble 

Homer Farrington drilling unit rig for a minimum of 75 days to drill one well, and 

possibly one  sidetrack on behalf of the Gabriella License (the "Drilling Contract"). 

The Drilling Contract, which has since been terminated as previously reported,  

 

required that MELP provide a letter of credit or cash collateral within specified 

time frames outlined in the Drilling Contract. Pursuant to the Drilling Contract, the 

parties determined that a letter of credit will be issued to secure the Drilling 

Contract.    

 

On June 12, 2012, of the Company signed a Memorandum of Understanding 

("MOU") with MELP and Brownstone, pursuant to which the parties agreed to 

authorize MELP to sign the Drilling Contract and the Company agreed to provide 

its working interest share of the collateral due to Noble Drilling. The MOU 

provided that if Adira failed to pay its share of the collateral, then it would: (a) 

withdraw from the Gabriella JOA; (b) assign its participating interest in the 

Gabriella License to the other participants in proportion to their holdings; and (c) 

relinquish all back-in rights, overriding royalty interests ("ORRI") and 

management fees, rights of first refusal and co-sale rights to MELP.  Pursuant to 

the MOU, Adira Israel also granted MELP the MELP Yitzhak Option (as described 

below).   

 

On December 21, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with MELP and 

Brownstone (the "Gabriella 2012 Agreement"), wherein certain terms regarding the 

parties’ use of the Noble Drilling unit were revised to require  MELP to provide 

letter of credit to Noble Drilling in two phases ($20 million by January 3, 2013 (the 

"First LC Amount") and $13.2 million by January 31, 2013 (the "Second LC 

Amount")) and confirmed a reduction  in the daily drilling rate due to Noble 

Drilling by MELP under the Drilling Contract from $500,000 per day to $415,000 

per day, and to the extent used, reduction in stand-by rates to between $100,000 

and $300,000 per day. The parties also agreed to take possession of the Homer 

Ferrington drilling unit in direct continuation from its then current drilling 

program, which meant the parties would need to accelerate, by up to three months, 

the program previously contemplated for the Gabriella License. According to the 

Gabriella 2012 Agreement, Adira's share of the aggregated letter of credit 

amounted to $5,000, which was required to be placed by January 31, 2013. 

 

In addition, the parties agreed that: (i) in order to facilitate farm-in transactions to 

the License, in the event that MELP secures a farm-in partner of its participating 

interest, Adira will proportionally reduce its Modiin Farmout Rights for up to a 

maximum of 30% of such participating interest. Adira’s proportional reduction 

obligation will only be applied to partners that have farmed into MELP’s 

participating interest, up to a date that is the earlier of the (a) commencement of the 

first test of the first well on the Gabriella License; or (b) plugging and abandoning 

or suspending of the first well on the Gabriella License. Any consideration  
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NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

received by MELP from any farm in partner will be shared equally between Adira 

and MELP, provided that at a minimum, Adira will receive 50% of past costs 

incurred by MELP, estimated to be $1.3 million per each 10% farmed out, as well 

as an ORRI of 1.5%,. (ii) Adira will have a 10% tag along rights to farm-out, on 

the same terms to the farm in partner that farms into MELP’s participating interest 

in the Gabriella License, in the event that such partner complies with certain 

criterion, (iii) MELP has granted to Adira an irrevocable option to purchase (the 

"Yam Hadera Option") from MELP a 15% participating interest in the Yam Hadera 

petroleum license (the "Yam Hadera License") offshore Israel. See also Note 9b(4).   

 

Subsequent to balance sheet date, the Drilling Contract was further amended as 

described in Note 20.   

 

Exploration activities of Gabriella since inception and throughout the year ended 

December 31, 2012 amounted to $27,336. The Company's 15% interest in the first 

$8,000 thousand of exploration expense was carried by Modiin and is not included 

in the Company's accounts for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 

 

The Company's proportionate share of the Gabriella license is as follows: 

 

  December 31, 

  2012  2011 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 475  $ 35 

Other receivables and prepaid expenses  335  - 

Exploration and evaluation assets (*)  2,646  - 

Trade payables  (512)  (32) 

     

  $ 2,944  $ 3 

 

(*) This amount primarily includes $1,597 relating to tangibles (piping tubes, 

etc.), $240 relating to a seabed survey and $580 relating to project 

management costs (including well design).  

 

  Year ended 
December 31,   

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       
Exploration expenses  $ 48  $ 13  $ - 
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NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

(2) Yitzhak: 
 

The Yitzhak license was awarded to the Company in October 2009 and covers 

31,555 acres (127.7 sq.km) and is located approximately 9 km offshore Israel 

between Hadera and Netanya, directly to the North of and contiguous to Gabriella. 

The license was issued for an initial three year period and may be renewed upon 

fulfillment of certain conditions for a further four year period with a further 

renewal option of two years in case of a reserve discovery. As of December 31, 

2012, the Company had received a renewal of te Yitzhak license to December 

2013, including extension of certain milestones.  

 

In 2011, the Company had 85% working interest in this license. Brownstone has a 

15% participating interest in the Yitzhak license. In addition, until January 1, 2012, 

the Company was the operator of the Yitzhak License and was entitled to receive a 

7.5% operating fee on all its expenditures. 

 

In November 2011, an agreement was signed between Adira Israel and Ellomay 

Oil and Gas 2011 LP ("Ellomay"), whose general partner is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Ellomay Capital Ltd. ("Ellomay Capital") for the transfer of rights in 

the Yitzhak license (the "Agreement") according to which Ellomay would receive 

20% (out of 100%) participation rights in the Yitzhak License (the "Transferred 

Rights"), in consideration for reimbursement of the expenses paid by Adira until 

the date of execution of the Agreement in respect of the Transferred Rights plus 

interest of Libor + 1%. Therefore, following the closing in February 2012 (See 

below), Ellomay paid Adira approximately $361, which was recognized as income 

in 2012.     

 

In addition, on November 29, 2011 the Company entered into an agreement with 

AGR Petroleum Services Holding AS ("AGR PSH"), a related party, AGR Group 

ASA ("AGR") whereby AGR PSH would act as chief operator in the Yitzhak 

License, and would receive 5% (out of 100%) participation rights in the Yitzhak 

License. Adira Israel will act as a joint operator, in accordance with the provisions 

of the JOA agreement and/or a services agreement to be signed and/or another 

agreement to be signed between the parties. All the partners (Ellomay, Brownstone 

and Adira) undertook to bear their proportionate share in AGR's expenses (5%) 

from the date of execution of the Agreement until the date of approval of a 

development plan by the Minstry ("Coverage of Expenses"). From the date of 

approval of the work plan as aforesaid, AGR shall bear its expenses according to 

its proportionate share in the participation rights (5%). AGR's income from the 

production of gas and petroleum in accordance with its proportionate share in its 

participation rights in the license shall be used to repay the Coverage of Expenses 

plus interest of Libor + 1%. 
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NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

On January 9, 2012, the Ministry approved the farm-out of an aggregate of 25% of 

its interest in the Yitzhak License to the two new partners, 5% to AGR and 20% to 

Ellomay, Accordingly, as of December 31, 2012, the Company has a 60% interest 

in the Yitzhak License, Brownstone has a 15% working interest in the license, 

AGR has a 5% working interest in the license and Ellomay has a 20% working 

interest in the license. The Company and AGR PSH are currently the co-operators 

of the Yitzhak License.  The Company, Brownstone, AGR and Ellomay signed a 

joint operating agreement to regulate their commercial relationship in respect of the 

Yitzhak License on September 11, 2012 (the "Yitzhak JOA").  The Yitzhak JOA 

incorporated the terms of the AGR Farm-Out Agreement and the Ellomay Farm-

Out Agreement. The Company does not expect to receive material operator fees 

from on account of the Yitzhak License.  

 

Until reimbursement of all the expenses incurred by AGR and Ellomay in 

connection with the license, AGR and Ellomay shall pay Adira Israel overriding 

royalties at the rate of 3% of their full share in income deriving from petroleum 

and/or gas and/or other valuable materials actually produced and extracted from the 

license. After reimbursement of the expenses as aforesaid, AGR and Ellomay shall 

pay Adira Israel overriding royalties at the rate of 4.5% of their full share in rights 

in petroleum and/or gas and/or other valuable materials actually produced and 

extracted from the license.  

 

According to the Ellomay Farm-Out Agreement and the Yitzhak JOA, Ellomay 

could elect not to fund the Yitzhak license and be subject to dilution for no 

consideration (i.e. the diluted interest would be transferred to Adira without cost), 

or it could transfer one-half of its 20% interest to a third party on negotiated terms. 

On October 29, 2012, Ellomay advised the Company of its intention to decrease 

Ellomay's interest in the Yitzhak License from 20% to 10% by paying decreased 

operating costs pursuant to the terms of the Yitzhak JOA. As of December 31, 

2012, the Company expended $640 on behalf of Ellomay in respect of the Yitzhak 

License for which the Company was entitled to be reimbursed by a third party if 

the 10% interest was transferred. This amount was recorded as a long-term 

receivable as of December 31, 2012. Subsequent to balance sheet date, Ellomay 

failed to transfer timely its interest to a third party, and therefore one-half of its 

20% interest was transferred back to the Company without cost. In 2013, the 

receivable will be classified as an additional investment in the exploration and 

evaluation assets in respect of the Yitzhak License. As of the date the financial 

statements were approved, the Company has a 70% interest in the Yitzhak License, 

Brownstone has a 15% interest, AGR has a 5% interest and Ellomay a 10% interest 

in the license. The new holdings have not yet been approved by the Minstry.  
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NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

On June 13, 2012, pursuant to an MOU with MELP (see Note 9b(1)), Adira 

granted MELP, an option to purchase ("MELP Yitzhak Option") from Adira a 15% 

participating interest in the Yitzhak License (the "MELP Yitzhak Option Interest").  

MELP may exercise the MELP Yitzhak Option until the later of (a) December 31, 

2012, and (b) the 30th day from the date Adira notifies MELP of the execution of 

an agreement with a drilling contractor in relation to the Yitzhak License. The  

 

Gabriella 2012 Agreement amends the exercise date until 14 days before signing of 

the rig contract for the Yitzhak License. If MELP exercises the MELP Yitzhak 

Option, then it must reimburse Adira for expenditures in respect of the MELP 

Yitzhak Option Interest incurred up to the date of transfer of the MELP Yitzhak 

Option Interest. MELP must also issue to Adira an ORRI of 3% with respect to all 

oil and gas (including any distillate and condensate) produced, saved and marketed 

from the area covered by Yitzhak License that is attributable to the MELP Yitzhak 

Option Interest, before payout, and 4.5% after payout. The transfer of the MELP 

Yitzhak Option Interest is subject to the approval of the Minstry.  

 

The Company's proportionate share of the Yitzhak license is as follows: 

 

  December 31, 

  2012  2011 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2  $ 92 

Prepaid expenses and other receivables  103  - 

Exploration and evaluation assets (*)  2,328  - 

Trade payables  (124)  (225) 

     

  $ 2,309  $ (133) 

 

(*) This amount primarily includes $1,017 relating to a seabed survey and $795 

relating to project management costs (including well design). 

 

  Year ended 

December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Exploration expenses  $ 113  $ 433  $ 883 
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NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

(3) Samuel: 

 

The Samuel license was issued in August 2010 and covers 88,708 acres (361 sq. 

km) approximately 17 km offshore Israel adjacent to the shoreline between 

Ashkelon and Palmachim. The license was issued to a consortium led by the 

Company (through the Company's subsidiaries, AOT and AGG). As of December 

31, 2012, the Company has a working interest of 41.25% in this license. In 

accordance with the Joint Operating Agreement, AGG is the operator of the 

Samuel License and is entitled to receive a 7.5% operating fee on all its 

expenditures. AGG is also entitled to a 3% overriding royalty. The operator fee and 

ORRI are shared equally between Adira and Geo Global Resources Inc. ("GGRI"). 

 

On October 26, 2012, Emanuelle Energy Limited ("Emanuelle") exercised an 

option to acquire a 7.13% interest in the Samuel License from GGRI and became a 

signatory to the Samuel JOA thereby reducing GGRI’s interest in the Samuel 

License to 22.88%. 

 

As of December 31, 2012, Adira paid $3,000 of operating costs on behalf of GGRI 

and Emmanuelle, which are holding a total of 42% of the Samuel License. GGRI's 

obligation arises from GGRI’s direct interest in the license and indirectly through 

GGRI’s 40% in Adira GeoGlobal.  Subsequent to balance sheet date, Adira issued 

a default letter to GGRI and Emmanuelle and in accordance with the Samuel JOA, 

Adira may seek reimbursement of these costs from the other Samuel License  

 

participants in proportion to their respective interests in the Samuel License, and all 

of the participants, including Adira, will each receive a proportionate increase in 

their interests in the Samuel License. Adira and GGRI are currently discussing a 

plan to ensure that GGRI reimburses Adira for costs advanced by Adira. 

 

Adira did not sign a drilling contract for the drilling of the first well milestone by 

March 31, 2013, as required by the Ministry. Adira is currently in the process of 

requesting an extension for the timetable of the milestones from the Ministry and it 

is uncertain that such an extension will be received. 

 

As of December 31, 2012, the Company believes that events described above 

including the lack of available funding from the license partners sufficient to meet 

the current milestones timetable, there are indicators of impairment of the Samuel 

license and there is a low probability of realization of the asset from either the 

successful development or sale of the license in the near future. Therefore, as of 

December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a $7,596 non-cash impairment charge 

arising from the write-off of exploration and evaluation (including uncollected 

recivables from GGRI and Emmanuelle) assets in the statement of comprehensive 

loss.  
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NOTE 9: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Cont.) 

 

The Company's proportionate share of the Samuel license is as follows: 

 

  December 31, 

  2012  2011 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 
     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 7  $ 124 
Prepaid expenses and other receivables  765  16 

Exploration and evaluation assets (*)  875  - 
Trade payables  (1,211)  (354) 

     
  $ 436  $ (214) 

 

(*) This amount includes the estimated net realizable value of the tangible 

equipment for offshore drilling (piping tubes, etc.) 

 

  Year ended 
December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 
       

Exploration expenses  $ 217  $ 3,163  $ 17 

 

(4) Yam Hadera: 

 

Pursuant to the Gabriella 2012 Agreement, the Company has an option (the "Yam 

Hadera Option") to acquire up to a 15% participating interest in the Yam Hadera 

petroleum license (the "Yam Hadera License"),  located 30 kilometers offshore 

Israel, between Hadera and Haifa and North West of Adira’s Yitzhak license. The 

Yam Hadera Option is exercisable until 14 days prior to the signing of a rig 

contract for the Yam Hadera License. 

 

As described in Note 20, due to allegations made by MELP against Adira, and by 

allegations made by Adira against MELP, subsequent to balance sheet date, both 

parties assert that the other in default of various obligations under the Gabriella 

JOA and other contracts described above. Accordingly, there is no assurance that 

the Company will be able to exercise the Yam Hadera Option. 

 

The Company has recognized exploration expenses for which it has not charged its 

license partners, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the 

partnership agreements. These exploration expenses amounted to $532, $625 and 

$ 156 for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

 

 

NOTE 10:- TRADE PAYABLES 

 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.  
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NOTE 11:- OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

 

  December 31, 

  2012  2011 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 
     

Employees in respect of payroll  $ 201  $ 80 
Accrued expenses  1,239  824 
Other  36  35 

     
  $ 1,476  $ 939 

 

Accounts payable are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 30 days. 

 

 

NOTE 12:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The Company's activities expose it to various financial risks, such as market risks (foreign 

currency risk, consumer price index risk, interest risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity 

risk. The Company's comprehensive risk management program focuses on actions to minimize 

potential adverse effects on the Company's financial performance.  

 

a. Credit risk:  

 

Concentration of credit risk exists with respect to the Company's cash and cash equivalent 

balances and receivables. The Company's exposure is for cash held in bank accounts, 

including restricted deposits, in the amount of $3,476 and $8,537 as of December 31, 

2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively, and on accounts and other receivables in the 

sum of $5,061 and $1,213 on December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. 

 

The Company manages credit risk, in respect of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted 

cash, by holding them at major Canadian and Israeli financial institutions in accordance 

with the Company's investment policy. The Company places its temporary cash and cash 

equivalents with high credit quality financial institutions. The Company regularly 

monitors credit extended to customers and their general financial condition. The 

Company historically has not had significant past-due receivables. 

 

b. Liquidity risk: 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in obtaining funds to 

meet current obligations and future commitments. The Company's approach to managing 

liquidity risk is to forecast cash requirements to determine whether it will have sufficient 

funds to meet its current liabilities when due. The Company maintains sufficient working 

capital in order to meet short-term business requirements. As of December 31, 2012, the 

Company had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of $3,476, and accounts and 

other receivables of $5,061 against trade and other payables in the amount of $7,317. 
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NOTE 12:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

 

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and restricted 

cash of $8,537 and accounts and other receivables of $1,213 against trade and other 

payables in the amount of $1,421.  

 

c. Market risk: 

 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 

will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of two types 

of risk: interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. 

 

1. Interest rate risk: 

 

The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk due to the short-term 

maturity of its cash equivalents.  

 

2. Foreign currency risk: 

 

The Company is exposed to financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign 

exchange rates. The Company operates in Israel. Most of the Company's monetary 

assets are held in U.S. dollars and most of the Company's expenditures are made in 

U.S. dollars. However, the Company also has expenditures in new Israeli shekels 

("NIS") and Canadian dollars. The Company has not hedged its exposure to 

currency fluctuations. An increase or decrease of 5% of the NIS relative to the U.S 

or the Canadian dollar would not have a significant effect on the Company.  

 

 

NOTE 13:- TAXES ON INCOME 

 

a. Tax rates applicable to the Company:  

 

1. The corporate tax rate in Canada in 2012 is 15%,  (2011 – 16.5%), and the Ontario 

tax rate in 2012 is 11.5%, % (2011 - 11.75%). 

 

2. The Israeli corporate tax rate was 25% in 2010, 24% in 2011 and 25% in 2012. 

 

On December 5, 2011, the Israeli Parliament (the Knesset) passed the Law for Tax 

Burden Reform (Legislative Amendments), 2011 ("the Tax Burden Law") which, 

among others, cancels effective from 2012, the scheduled progressive reduction in 

the corporate tax rate. The Tax Burden Law also increases the corporate tax rate to 

25% in 2012. In view of this increase in the corporate tax rate to 25% in 2012, the 

real capital gains tax rate and the real betterment tax rate were also increased 

accordingly. 
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NOTE 13:- TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.) 

 

3. On April 12, 2010, the Minister of Finance appointed the Committee for 

Examination of the Fiscal Policy on Petroleum and Gas Resources in Israel (the 

"Sheshinski Committee"). The Committee was charged with examining the fiscal 

system prevailing in Israel with regard to petroleum and gas resources, and 

proposing an updated fiscal policy. 

 

On January 3, 2011, the Sheshinski Committee submitted its final 

recommendations to the Minister of Finance. On January 23, 2011 the Government 

adopted the Sheshinski Committee's report and recommendations, and on March 

30, 2011 the Knesset adopted the Petroleum Profits Taxation Law, 5771-2011 (the 

"Law"). The Law was published in the Official Gazette on April 10, 2011. The 

main recommendations of the Committee and provisions of the Law are as follows: 

 

a) Leaving the rate of royalties to the State unchanged (12.5%). 

b) Cancelling the depletion deduction. 

c) Imposing a petroleum and gas profits levy: 

 

 The levy will be calculated according to a proposed R-factor mechanism, according 

to the ratio between the net cumulative income from the project and the cumulative 

investments as defined in the Law. A minimum levy of 20% will be charged from 

the stage at which the R-factor ratio reaches 1.5, and when the ratio increases, the 

levy is progressively raised up to a maximum rate of 50%, when the ratio reaches  

 

 2.3. Further provisions were also set forth regarding the levy, including that the 

levy will be recognized as an expense for income tax calculation; the borders of the 

levy will not include export facilities; the levy will be calculated and imposed in 

respect of each reservoir separately (ring fencing); payment by a petroleum right 

holder which is calculated as a percentage of the petroleum extracted, the payment 

recipient will be liable for payment of a levy in accordance with the amount of the 

payment received thereby, which amount will be deducted from the levy amount 

for which the petroleum right holder is liable. 

 

d) Accelerated depreciation will be granted for the investments at the rate of 

10%, with a possibility of electing depreciation up to the amount of the 

taxable income in that year. 

 

e) Taxation of a petroleum partnership - the Law sets forth provisions regarding 

the manner of calculation and reporting of the profits of the partners in 

partnerships engaging in oil exploration, including the manner of calculation 

and payment of the tax arising from such profits. 
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NOTE 13:- TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.) 

 

f) The following transition provisions were set forth: 

 

i) A petroleum venture in respect of which the date of commencement of 

commercial production occurs before the commencement date, the 

provisions of this Law shall apply with the following modifications: 

 

- If such venture is subject to a levy payment duty in the tax year in 

which the date of commencement occurs, the levy rate in that tax year 

shall be one half the rate of the levy which would have been imposed 

on the petroleum profits but for the provisions of this paragraph, and 

no more than 10%. 

- If the levy coefficient in the tax year in which the commencement date 

occurs exceeds 1.5, rules are determined for the manner of calculation 

of the levy coefficient in each subsequent tax year. 

- The levy rate imposed on the petroleum profits of the venture in each 

of the tax years 2012 to 2015 will be equal to one half the levy rate 

which would have been imposed on the petroleum profits as aforesaid, 

but for the provisions of this paragraph. 

 

 ii) A venture in respect of which the date of commencement of 

commercial production occurs in the period from the date of 

commencement until January 1, 2014, shall be subject, inter alia to 

the following provisions: 

 

- The minimal levy coefficient shall be 2 instead of 1.5, and the 

maximum - 2.8 instead of 2.3. 

 

- The depreciation rate for an asset acquired in the years 2011 to 2013 

shall be 15% instead of 10%. 

 

g) An Amendment to the Income Tax Regulations (Deductions from the 

Income of Petroleum Rights Holders) (Amendment), 5771-2011, cancelled 

the recognition as a current expense of development expenses in respect of 

reservoirs, commercial production from which shall commence after January 

1, 2014, and they shall be subject to the depreciation rules set forth in the 

Law. It is stated that the depletion deduction was canceled in the 

Amendment to the Income Tax Regulations (Deductions from the Income of 

Petroleum Rights Holders) (Amendment), 5771-2011, effective May 1, 

2011. The provisions regarding the imposition of the petroleum and gas 

profits levy are effective from April 10, 2011, and the provision regarding 

the taxation of a petroleum partnership (Section above) is effective from the 

tax year 2011. The cancellation of the gradual reduction in the corporate tax 

rate, as described in a(2) above, will decrease the levy per the Petroleum 

Taxation law from 2016 and threafter to a maximum rate of 45.52% from the 

Company's oil and gas revenue. 
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NOTE 13:- TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.) 

 

 At this time, the expected implications of the Law on the Company's business cannot be 

fully estimated. However, it may already be estimated that the implementation of the Law 

could significantly increase the tax burden and adversely affect the Company's business 

and activity, as compared with the situation before the Law took effect. 

 

 

b. Tax assessments:  

 

The Company's and its subsidiaries have not yet received final tax assessments since their 

incorporation. 

 

 

c. Carryforward losses for tax purposes and other temporary differences:  

 

As of December 31, 2012, carryforward losses in Canada are approximately $3,500 

expiring through 2032. As of December 31, 2012, carryforward losses in Israel are 

approximately $18,000 and may be carried forward indefinitely. 

 

Net deferred tax assets relating to carryforward operating losses and other temporary 

differences of approximately $4,500 were not recognized because their utilization in the 

foreseeable future is not probable.  

 

 

d. Taxes on income included in the statements of comprehensive loss:  

 

  Year ended 

December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Current taxes  $ 3  $ 13  $ 15 

Taxes in respect of prior years  33   20  - 

       

  $ 41  $ 33  $ 15 

 

  



ADIRA ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data 

 - 45 - 

 

NOTE 13:- TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.) 

 

e. Theoretical tax:  

 

A reconciliation between the tax expense, assuming that all the income and expenses, 

gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive loss were taxed at the statutory tax 

rate and the taxes on income recorded in the statement of comprehensive loss is as 

follows: 

 

  Year ended 

December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Loss before income taxes   $ (10,516)  $ (10,018)  $ (2,989) 

       

Statutory tax rate   26.5%  28.25%  31% 

       

Tax benefit computed at the statutory 

tax rate 

 
$ (2,787)  $ (2,830)  $ (927) 

       

Increase in taxes on income resulting 

from the following factors:  

 
     

Taxes in respect of prior years  38  20  - 

Increase in tax due to tax rate 

differences in Israel 

 
149  240  37 

Non-deductible expenses  179  224  328 

Non-recognition of tax benefit in 

respect of losses  

 
2,462  2,379  577 

       

Taxes on income   $ 41  $ 33  $ 15 
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NOTE 14:- SHARE CAPITAL 

 

a. Authorized: 

 

Unlimited number of Common shares without nominal or par value. 

 

 

b. Issued and outstanding Common shares:  

 

(i) On November 22, 2010, the Company completed a private placement of 

27,500,000 subscription receipts ("Receipts") for gross proceeds of $11,000 

(issuance expenses of $923). On December 3, 2010, the Receipts were converted 

into 27,500,000 Common shares at $0.40 per share and 13,750,000 Common share 

purchase warrants ("Warrants") with an exercise price of $0.55 and a term of three 

years. In addition, 1,307,375 broker warrants were issued with an exercise price of 

$0.40. 
 

On December 2, 2010, the Common shares of the Company commenced trading on 

the TSX Venture Exchange (the "TSX-V") under the trading symbol "ADL".  
 

28,233,745 Common shares, 2,848,000 options and 118,200 warrants are subject to 

TSX-V Escrow requirements.  

 

(ii) On February 16, 2011, the Company issued 10,483,871 common shares at CAD 

$0.62 per share for net proceeds of $6,152.  

 

(iii) On August 9, 2012, the Company completed a prospectus offering of 79,012,640 

units for gross proceeds of $11,099 (before issuance expenses of $1,298 including 

the fair value of broker warrants $ 219).  Each unit was priced at CAN$0.14 and 

consists of one Common Share and one warrant. Each warrant is exercisable to 

acquire one Common Share at a price of CAN$0.20 per Common Share until 

August 9, 2015. 
 

The warrants are denominated in Canadian dollars, while the functional currency of 

the Company is US dollars; therefore the fair value of the warrants was classified 

as a financial liability and the fair value of the warrants on the date of issuance was 

approximately $5,312. This financial liability is remeasured to fair value at the end 

of each period and changes in fair value is recorded in profit or loss. Therefore, the 

Company recorded a gain in financing income of $2,299 during the year ended 

December 31, 2012, as a result of remeasuring the fair value of the warrants to 

their fair value of $3,013 as of December 31, 2012.  
 

As part of the offering, a total of 3,353,000 broker warrants were issued. Each 

broker warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at an exercise price of 

CAN$0.14 per Common Share until August 9, 2014. The fair value of the warrants 

on the date of issuance was $219, which was included in offering expenses in 

statement of changes in equity. 

 

Following the completion of this offering a total of 180,781,093 Common Shares 

and 97,423,015 warrants are now issued and outstanding. 
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NOTE 14:- SHARE CAPITAL (Cont.) 

 

c. Stock Option Plan: 

 

Under the Company's August 31, 2009 Stock Option Plan ("the Incentive Stock Option 

Plan"), options may be granted to employees, officers, consultants, service providers and 

directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. 

 

Stock options may be issued up to 10% of the Company's outstanding Common shares at 

a term and an exercise price to be determined by the Company's Board of Directors. The 

maximum term of the options is ten years from the date of grant. 

 

As of December 31, 2012, an aggregate of 417,000 of the Company's options were still 

available for future grant. 

 

The Company typically grants stock options with vesting periods of between two to four 

years, generally with the exercise price at the closing price of the stock on the date of the 

grant and an expiration date of five years from the date of grant. 

 

 

A summary of the stock option plan and changes during the years ended December 31, 

2012 and 2011 were as follows: 

 

 

 Number of 

options 

outstanding 

 Weighted 

average  

exercise price  

     

Balance, January  1, 2011  5,659,000  0.39 

Options granted  5,706,218  0.62 

Options exercised  (527,811)  0.25 

Options forfeited  (1,453,189)  0.49 

     

Balance, December 31, 2011  9,384,218  0.52 

Options granted  10,130,000  0.21 

Options forfeited  (1,853,109)  0.56 

     

Balance, December 31, 2012  17,661,109  0.34 

  



ADIRA ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data 

 - 48 - 

 
NOTE 14:- SHARE CAPITAL (Cont.) 

 

The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding and 

exercisable as of December 31, 2012: 
 

Grant date  

 

Expiry date 

 

Grant date 

fair value  

 

Exercise 

price *) 

 

Number of 

options 

outstanding  

 

Number of 

options 

exercisable 

 Average 

remaining 

contractual 

life 

             

August 31, 2009   August 20, 2014  $ 0.29  $ 0.25  1,708,000  1,648,000  1.64 

September 23, 2009   September 23, 2014  $ 0.22  $ 0.25  400,000  400,000  1.73 

January 28, 2010  January 27, 2015  $ 0.56  $ 0.61  970,000  947,604  2.08 

July 22, 2010  July 21, 2015  $ 0.25  $ 0.61  850,000  850,000  2.56 

January 11, 2011  January 10, 2016  $ 0.66  $ 0.80  1,050,000  459,375  3.03 

March 18, 2011  March 17, 2016  $ 0.59  $ 0.80  100,000  43,750  3.21 

May 3, 2011  May 2, 2016  $ 0.52  $ 0.60  415,000  155,625  3.34 

June 1, 2011  May 31, 2016  $ 0.43  $ 0.50  1,138,109  426,791  3.42 

June 27, 2011  June 26, 2016  $ 0.42  $ 0.50  100,000  37,500  3.49 

September 8, 2011  September 7, 2016  $ 0.41  $ 0.50  250,000  62,500  3.58 

December 1, 2011  November 30, 2016  $ 0.22  $ 0.50  570,000  142,500  3.92 

March 14, 2012   March 13, 2017   $ 0.15  $ 0.25  2,000,000  250,000  4.20 

August 22, 2012  August 21, 2017   $ 0.07  $ 0.20  8,110,000  2,703,333  4.64 

             

        17,661,109  8,126,978   

 

*) The exercise price of all options granted in 2011 and 2012 is denominated in 

Canadian Dollars and was translated to USD in the table above using the exchange 

rate as of December 31, 2012.  

 

Stock options granted are expensed as share-based payments. For grants made until 

December 31, 2011, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value 

stock options granted. For grants made from January 1, 2012, the Company uses the 

Binominal option pricing model to value stock options granted.  

 

The fair value of options granted is amortized over their vesting period and estimated at 

the date of grant with the following assumptions: 

 

  2012  2011  2010 

       

Dividend yield  0%  0%  0% 

Expected volatility  80%-104%  112%-115%  113%-175% 

Risk-free interest  1%-1.8%  1.3%-2.6%  1.7%-2.4% 

Forfeiture rate  0%-5%  0%-5%  0% 

Expected life   5  5  5 
 

Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of comparable companies, as the 

Company does not have sufficient history to determine the expected volatility of its 

shares. The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options 

granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk free interest rate is based on the yield of 

Canadian Treasury bonds with equivalent terms. The dividend yield is based on the 

Company's historical and future expectation of dividends payouts. The Company has not  
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NOTE 14:- SHARE CAPITAL (Cont.) 

 

paid cash dividends historically and has no plans to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable 

future. 

 

d. Share purchase warrants: 

 

The Company has share purchase warrants outstanding entitling the holders to acquire 

Common shares as follows: 

 

 

 

Number of 

warrants 

 Weighted 

average 

exercise price  

     

Balance as of January 1, 2011  19,558,145  $ 0.52 

Warrants Exercised  (616,770)  $ 0.30 

Warrants Expired  (3,884,000)  $ 0.50 

     

Balance as of December 31, 2011  15,057,375  $  (*0.54 

Warrants Granted  82,365,640  $ (*0.20 

     

Balance as of December 31, 2012  97,423,015  $ 0.25 

 

 

The following tables summarize information applicable to warrants outstanding as of 

December 31, 2012: 

 

Issue date 

 

Expiry date 

 Grant date 

fair value  

 Exercise 

price 

 Number of 

warrants 

         

December 3, 2010  December 3, 2013  $ 0.34  $ 0.55  13,750,000 

December 3, 2010  December 3, 2013  $ 0.35  $ 0.40  1,307,375 

August 9, 2012  August 9, 2015  $ 0.07  $ (*0.20  79,012,640 

August 9, 2012  August 9, 2014  $ 0.07  $ (*0.14  3,353,000 

         

        97,423,015 

 

*) The exercise price of warrants granted in 2012 is denominated in Canadian Dollars 

and was translated to USD in the table above using the exchange rate as of 

December 31, 2012.  

 

e. Capital management in the Company: 

 

The Company is in the early stage of gas and petroleum exploration. The Company has 

negative cash flows from current operations. The Company's primary source of funds 

comes from the issuance of share capital. The Company does not use other sources of 

financing that require fixed payments of interest and principal and is not subject to any 

externally imposed capital requirements. 
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NOTE 14:- SHARE CAPITAL (Cont.) 

 

The Company defines its capital as share capital. To effectively manage the Company's 

capital requirements, the Company has a planning and budgeting process in place. The 

Company supervises the actual expenditure against the budget to manage its costs and 

commitments.   

 

The Company's capital management objective is to maximize investment returns for 

shareholders within the context of relevant opportunities and risks associated with the 

Company's operating segment. Achieving this objective requires management to consider 

the underlying nature of exploration activities, availability of capital, the cost of various 

capital alternatives and other factors. Establishing and adjusting capital requirements is a 

continuous administrative process. 

 

Although the Company has been successful at raising funds in the past through the 

issuance of share capital, it is uncertain whether it will continue to raise this financing due 

to uncertain economic conditions. 

 

 

NOTE 15:- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 

a. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recognized $357 for advisory fees 

and operating expenses to private companies controlled by the directors or by officers of 

the Company (2011 - $906). 

 

These transactions are in the ordinary course of business and are measured at the amount 

of consideration set and agreed by the related parties. 

 

 

b. Compensation to directors and key management personnel:  

 

The CEO, CFO, COO, V.P. Business Development, Head Geologist, V.P. Contracts and 

Regulation, and the directors are considered key management personnel. 

 

  Year ended 

December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Short-term employee benefits  $ 1,071  $ 911  $ 481 

Share based compensation  613  850  595 

       

  $ 1,684  $ 1,761  $ 1,076 

       

Number of people  7  7  5 
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NOTE 15:- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont.) 

 

Benefits in respect of key management persons (including directors) who are not 

employed by the Company: 

 

  Year ended 

December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Share based compensation  $ 298  $ 206  $ 243 

       

Number of people  4  5   3 

 

 

NOTE 16:- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

 

a. Leases: 

 

The Company has agreements for the lease of the offices in Toronto, Canada and Ramat-

Gan, Israel for periods through 2014. Future minimum lease payments under non-

cancelable operating leases are as follows: 

 

  Year ended 

December 31, 

  2012  2011 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

     

Within one year  $ 187  $ 171 

After one year but not more than five years  44  168 

     
  $ 231  $ 339 

 

 

b. Licenses: 

 

The Company has commitments to the Ministry to complete the work programs on all of 

the Company's licenses. Based on the current commitments, the Company is required to 

spud at least one well on the Samuel license by April 30, 2013, and on the Gabriella 

license by June 30, 2013 and on Yitzhak license by October 30, 2013. The validity of the 

petroleum licenses of the Company are conditional upon fulfillment of certain obligations 

on dates set in the conditions of the petroleum assets.  In the event of non-fulfillment of 

the conditions, the petroleum rights are subject to cancellation. As of December 31, 2012 

the Company believes that it complies with the conditions and obligations above.  
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NOTE 16:- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Cont.) 

 

c. Joint venture commitments:  

 

The JOA's of each of the joint ventures in which the Company has a participating interest 

require that the Company commit to fund its proportionate share of the approved budget 

or work programs. 

 

The Company's share of the remaining contractual commitments as of December 31, 

2012, for the Offshore Licenses is approximately $197. Due to our allegations that MELP 

materially breached the Gabriella 2012 Agreement, per company's managment the $5,000 

commitment on the First LC Amount and the Second LC Amount, is not valid as of the 

date of the financial statements. See Note 20.   

 

d. Legislative limitations: 

 

1. The Petroleum Law, 5712-1952 and regulations enacted by virtue thereof: 

 

Petroleum and gas exploration and production in Israel are regulated mainly by the 

Petroleum Law and the regulations enacted by virtue thereof and by the Natural 

Gas Sector Law, 5762-2002. The Petroleum Law includes stringent conditions for 

the submission of applications for receipt of petroleum assets and transfer of rights 

in petroleum assets in accordance with the Petroleum Law.  

 

2. The Natural Gas Sector Law, 5762-2002 

 

The purpose of the Natural Gas Sector Law is to create conditions for the 

development of the natural gas sector and carrying out of competition therein and 

regulating the activity in the natural gas sector. The law, and the regulations 

enacted thereunder, prescribe provisions regarding storage, transmission, 

distribution and marketing of natural gas in Israel, including the construction and 

operation of a transmission system, a distribution network, a Liquid Natural Gas 

(LNG) facility, and a natural gas storage facility in Israel which require the receipt 

of a license from the Minister of Energy and Water Resources. 

 

 

3. At the beginning of 2011, the Ministry of Environmental Protection published 

directives for the protection of the environment regarding new and existing gas and 

petroleum drillings (for all stages, including trial, development, production) in 

order to prevent land, unsaturated zone and water source contamination.  
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NOTE 17:- REVENUES AND OTHER INCOME 

 

a. The Company operates in one segment, the oil and gas business and conducts its 

operations in Israel with its head office in Canada. Details of the Company's revenues and 

other income (all of which are derived from Israel) are as follows: 

 

  Year ended 

December 31, 

  2012  2011  2010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Consulting  $ 455  $ 771  $ 810 

Operator fees  544  312  455 

Income from farm-out   890  240  330 

Other income  -  -  112 

       

  $ 1,889  $ 1,323  $ 1,707 

 

 

b. Revenues from major customers (UJVs), each one of which exceeds 10% of the 

consolidated revenues, as of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are as 

follows: 

 

  Year ended 

December 31 

  1022  1021  1010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Customer A  $ 461  $ 591  $ 1,121 

Customer B  529  449  - 

Customer C  529  150  - 

Customer D  370  -  - 

       

  $ 1,889  $ 1,190  $ 1,121 
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NOTE 18:- GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 

  Year ended 

December 31 

  1022  1021  1010 

  U.S. dollars in thousands 

       

Payroll and related payments  $ 759  $ 543  $ 364 

Share-based compensation   887  1,023  1,277 

Professional fees  2,397  2,068  1,034 

Rent and office expenses  287  370  140 

Depreciation  96  80  12 

Travel  350  529  184 

Insurance   31  97  3 

Others  497  321  53 

       

  $ 5,304  $ 5,031  $ 3,067 

 

 

NOTE 19:- FINANCING INCOME AND EXPENSES 

 

Financing income in 2012 includes $2,299 in respect of the remeasurement of warrants to 

their fair value. See note 14b(iii). 

 

Financing expense in 2012 includes $726 in respect to the offering expeses related to the 

warrants issued in the August 2012 offering that were classified as a financial liability. 

See note 14b(iii).  

 

 

NOTE 20:- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

 

Gabriella License (See also Note 9b(1))  

On January 3, 2013, MELP announced that the Drilling Contract had been further 

amended such that the First LC Amount was reduced to $12,000 but the Second LC 

Amount was increased to $21,000.  

 

As of January 31, 2013, the Company did not place its share of the letter of credit in the 

amount of $5,000, due to the Company’s alleged breaches by MELP of the MOU, and the 

Gabriella 2012 Agreement. 

  

On February 1, 2013, the Company sent a default letter to MELP for its failure to pay the 

last cash call issued under the Gabriella JOA. This was followed by a second default 

notice on March 3, 2013. 
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NOTE 20:- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Cont.) 

 

On February 11, 2013, the Company announced that it suspended operations on the 

Gabriella License due to lack of funding and lack of reasonable expectation of funding by 

certain parties sufficient to pursue the current work program; lack of agreement among 

the license holders regarding how to proceed under the circumstances; and due to the fact 

that MELP has not met its obligations under the Gabriella JOA or under other agreements 

in place among the JOA parties.  

 

Due to allegations made by MELP against Adira, alleging the Company’s breach of the 

Gabriella JOA, the MOU and the Gabriella 2012 Agreement and by allegations made by 

Adira against MELP, both parties assert that the other is  in default of various obligations 

under the Gabriella JOA and other contracts described above. As such, while the 

Company maintains that its rights under the Gabriella JOA and such other contracts 

remain valid, there is no assurance that any of the rights could effectively be pursued and 

realized. Additionally, while the working interest percentage ownership of the  

participants remains 70% MELP, 15% Brownstone and 15% Adira; both MELP and 

Adira assert that the other has a 0% interest and is obligated to withdraw from the 

Gabriella JOA and the Gabriella License. The Gabriella license holders have been 

holding discussions regarding the above matters.   

 

 

 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
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